

# NATIONAL QUALITY FORUM

TO: NQF Members and public

FR: NQF staff

RE: Pre-voting review for National Voluntary Consensus Standards for Patient Safety Measures, Second Report: A Consensus Report (Supplemental Comment Period)

DA: August 26, 2011

This first report of the patient safety measures project presents the evaluation results of several healthcare-associated infections (HAI) measures. A Steering Committee of 21 individuals representing the range of stakeholder perspectives reviewed and considered for endorsement five HAI candidate standards. All five measures, including two surgical site infection (SSI) measures, were recommended for endorsement as voluntary consensus standards.

The report was initially presented for NQF Member and public comment in November 2010. Following that initial comment period, the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC) and the American College of Surgeons (ACS) worked together to harmonize their originally submitted SSI measures. The harmonized measure, PSM-002-10 (ACS-CDC Harmonized Procedure Specific SSI Outcome measure) is now available for comment. During this period, the CDC also significantly revised two additional measures, PSM-001-10 NHSN (Central line-associated bloodstream infection (CLABSI) outcome measure) and PSM-003-10 (NHSN Catheter-associated urinary tract infection (CAUTI) outcome measure). These three modified measures are being posted for a supplemental comment period, to allow NQF Members and the public an opportunity to provide feedback on the revised specifications.

The draft document, *National Voluntary Consensus Standards for Patient Safety Measures, Second Report*, is also posted on the NQF website, [http://www.qualityforum.org/projects/patient\\_safety\\_measures.aspx](http://www.qualityforum.org/projects/patient_safety_measures.aspx), along with the following additional information:

- measure evaluations; and
- additional technical information, if applicable.

Pursuant to section II.A of the Consensus Development Process v. 1.8, this draft document, along with the accompanying material, is being provided to you at this time for purposes of review and comment only—not voting. You may post your comments and view the comments of others on the NQF website.

**Please note that there is one deadline for both NQF Member and public comments. All comments must be submitted no later than 6:00 pm ET, September 14, 2011.**

Thank you for your interest in the NQF's work. We look forward to your review and comments.

# **NATIONAL QUALITY FORUM**

**NATIONAL VOLUNTARY CONSENSUS STANDARDS FOR PATIENT SAFETY  
MEASURES, FIRST REPORT: A CONSENSUS REPORT**

**DRAFT REPORT FOR SUPPLEMENTAL COMMENT**

**NQF REVIEW DRAFT—DO NOT CITE OR QUOTE**  
**NQF MEMBER comments due September 14, 2011, 6:00 PM ET; PUBLIC comments due September 14, 2011 by 6:00 PM**  
**ET**

# NATIONAL QUALITY FORUM

## NATIONAL VOLUNTARY CONSENSUS STANDARDS FOR PATIENT SAFETY MEASURES, FIRST REPORT: A CONSENSUS REPORT

### TABLE OF CONTENTS

Executive Summary .....	
Background .....	
Strategic Directions for NQF .....	
National Priorities Partnership .....	
NQF's Consensus Development Process .....	
Evaluating Potential Consensus Standards .....	
Recommendations for Endorsement .....	
Candidate Consensus Standards Recommended for Endorsement .....	
Additional Recommendations .....	
Notes .....	
Appendix A—Specifications for the National Voluntary Consensus Standards for Patient Safety Measures, First Report: A Consensus Report.....	A-1
Appendix B—Steering Committee and NQF Staff .....	B-1
Appendix C— NQF-Endorsed <sup>®</sup> Measures as of April 2010.....	C-1

# NATIONAL QUALITY FORUM

## NATIONAL VOLUNTARY CONSENSUS STANDARDS FOR PATIENT SAFETY MEASURES, FIRST REPORT: A CONSENSUS REPORT

### 1 EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

2 Healthcare-associated infections (HAIs) remain a significant public health issue in the United  
3 States. In hospitals alone, the incidence of HAIs is estimated at 1.7 million infections, with  
4 99,000 associated deaths. Urinary tract infections (UTIs), surgical site infections (SSIs),  
5 pneumonia, and bloodstream infections account for 83 percent of all HAIs. The estimated direct  
6 cost of these infections to the healthcare system is nearly \$4.5 billion. In 2009, the American  
7 Recovery and Reinvestment Act (ARRA) authorized \$50 million in funding for states to engage  
8 in HAI planning and other activities in support of the Department of Health and Human Services  
9 (HHS) Action Plan to Prevent Healthcare-Associated Infections. Preventing HAIs has become a  
10 national priority for public health and patient safety.

11

12 The National Quality Forum (NQF) inventory of endorsed measures includes more than 100  
13 measures related to patient safety. Several of these measures focus specifically on HAIs,  
14 addressing UTIs, SSIs, pneumonia, and bloodstream infections. Similarly, the measures  
15 recommended for endorsement in this first report of patient safety measures include updated  
16 versions of previously HAI endorsed measures. Ultimately, the endorsement of these national  
17 standards for HAI measurement will provide states and other organizations with valuable  
18 resources for implementing comparable standards and will enable consumers to gain access to  
19 uniformly reported data that are reliable and useful for decision making.

20

21 Under this initial phase of NQF's most recent Patient Safety Measures project, five HAI  
22 measures are recommended for endorsement. These measures were submitted by the Centers for  
23 Disease Control and Prevention (CDC) and the American College of Surgeons (ACS) and are  
24 listed below:

25

26

# NATIONAL QUALITY FORUM

## RECOMMENDATIONS FOR ENDORSEMENT AVAILABLE FOR COMMENT

### AUGUST 24-SEPTEMBER 9.\*

- PSM-001-10: National Healthcare Safety Network (NHSN) Central line-associated bloodstream infection (CLABSI) outcome measure (CDC)
- PSM-003-10: National Healthcare Safety Network (NHSN) catheter-associated urinary tract infection (CAUTI) Outcome (CDC)

- PSM-002-10: American College of Surgeons – Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (ACS-CDC) Harmonized Procedure Specific Surgical Site Infection (SSI) Outcome Measure

### RECOMMENDATIONS FOR ENDORSEMENT PREVIOUSLY AVAILABLE FOR COMMENT

- PSM-007-10: Risk adjusted urinary tract infection outcome measure (ACS)

\*Following Member and public Comment in November 2010, the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC) and the American College of Surgeons (ACS) worked together to harmonize their two surgical site infection measures, PSM-002-10 (National Healthcare Safety Network [NHSN] surgical site infection outcome measure) and PSM-006-10 (Risk-adjusted surgical site infection outcome measure). The harmonized measure, PSM-002-10 (American College of Surgeons – Centers for Disease Control and Prevention [ACS-CDC] Harmonized Procedure Specific Surgical Site Infection (SSI) Outcome Measure) is now available for Member and public comment. In addition, the CDC updated PSM-001-10 and PSM-003-10. These three modified measures are being posted for a supplemental comment period, to allow NOF Members and the public an opportunity to provide feedback on the revised specifications. Please note that the comment period for NOF Members and the public will be two weeks.

Formatted: No bullets or numbering

Deleted: <#>PSM-002-10: National Healthcare Safety Network (NHSN) surgical site infection (SSI) outcome measure (CDC)¶  
<#>PSM-006-10: Risk adjusted surgical site infection outcome measure (ACS)¶  
<#>PSM-003-10: National Healthcare Safety Network (NHSN) catheter-associated urinary tract infection (CAUTI) Outcome (CDC) ¶

Formatted: Font: Bold

Deleted: originally submitted

Deleted: :

Deleted: (

Deleted: )

Deleted: ....

Deleted: I

Deleted: ...

Deleted: se

Deleted: allotted

Deleted: to submit comments

NQF REVIEW DRAFT—DO NOT CITE OR QUOTE

NQF MEMBER comments due September 14, 2011, 6:00 PM ET; PUBLIC comments due September 14, 2011 by 6:00 PM ET

# NATIONAL QUALITY FORUM

## NATIONAL VOLUNTARY CONSENSUS STANDARDS FOR PATIENT SAFETY, FIRST REPORT: A CONSENSUS REPORT

### 49 **BACKGROUND**

50 Healthcare-associated infections (HAIs) remain a significant public health issue in the United  
51 States. In hospitals alone, the incidence of HAI is estimated at 1.7 million infections, with  
52 99,000 associated deaths.<sup>1</sup> Urinary tract infections (UTIs), surgical site infections (SSIs),  
53 pneumonia, and bloodstream infections account for 83 percent of HAIs<sup>1</sup>. In 1992, the estimated  
54 direct cost of these infections on the healthcare system was \$4.5 billion in 1992 dollars; adjusting  
55 for inflation, this cost rose to \$6.65 billion in 2007.<sup>2</sup>

56  
57 Consumer, provider, purchaser, and regulatory and accreditation organizations are growing  
58 increasingly interested in HAIs.<sup>3</sup> Many of the stakeholders in healthcare have focused increased  
59 attention on both surveillance and public reporting of HAIs. From 1970 to the present, the  
60 Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC) collected voluntary data on HAIs, clinical  
61 practices known to prevent HAIs, as well as information about multidrug-resistant organisms and  
62 other adverse events. Twenty-seven states are now requiring public reporting of certain HAIs.<sup>4</sup>  
63 Preventing HAIs has become a public health and patient safety priority issue. In 2009, the  
64 American Recovery and Reinvestment Act (ARRA) authorized \$50 million in funding for states  
65 to engage in HAI planning and other activities in support of the HHS Action Plan to Prevent  
66 Healthcare-Associated Infections.<sup>5</sup> In October 2008, Medicare reduced reimbursement to  
67 facilities not collecting data on particular HAIs including catheter-associated urinary tract  
68 infection (CAUTI), central line-associated bloodstream infection (CLABSI), and SSI. The  
69 Patient Protection Affordable Care Act (PPAC) will extend these payment reductions to  
70 Medicaid providers in 2011. Beginning in 2013, hospitals' annual Medicare payment updates  
71 will be tied to submission of infection data, including CLABSIs and SSIs.<sup>6</sup>

72  
73 Though HAI data have been collected for many years, use of the data for comparison of infection  
74 rates between hospitals and other healthcare facilities requires uniform measurement standards.

## NATIONAL QUALITY FORUM

75 Because methods for diagnosis and data collection on HAIs vary among institutions, the validity  
76 of data comparisons between facilities or across geographic areas is questionable. Endorsement  
77 of national standards for HAI measurement allows states and other organizations to gain a  
78 valuable resource for implementing nationally comparable standards rather than going forward  
79 with separate, potentially discordant measurement efforts. Ultimately, consumers gain access to  
80 standardized data that are reliable and useful for decision making.

81

### 82 **STRATEGIC DIRECTIONS FOR NQF**

83 NQF's mission includes three parts: 1) setting national priorities and goals for performance  
84 improvement, 2) endorsing national consensus standards for measuring and publicly reporting on  
85 performance, and 3) promoting the attainment of national goals through education and outreach  
86 programs. As greater numbers of quality measures are developed and brought to NQF for  
87 consideration of endorsement, it is incumbent on NQF to assist stakeholders to "measure what  
88 makes a difference" and address what is important to achieve the best outcomes for patients and  
89 populations. For more information see [www.qualityforum.org](http://www.qualityforum.org).

90

91 Several strategic issues have been identified to guide consideration of candidate consensus  
92 standards:

93 **DRIVE TOWARD HIGH PERFORMANCE.** Over time, the bar of performance expectations  
94 should be raised to encourage the achievement of higher levels of system performance.

95 **EMPHASIZE COMPOSITES.** Composite measures provide much needed summary  
96 information pertaining to multiple dimensions of performance and are more comprehensible to  
97 patients and consumers.

98 **MOVE TOWARD OUTCOME MEASUREMENT.** Outcome measures provide information  
99 of keen interest to consumers and purchasers, and when coupled with healthcare process  
100 measures, they provide useful and actionable information to providers. Outcome measures also  
101 focus attention on much needed system-level improvements, because achieving the best patient  
102 outcomes often requires carefully designed care processes, teamwork, and coordinated action on  
103 the part of many providers.

NQF REVIEW DRAFT—DO NOT CITE OR QUOTE

NQF MEMBER comments due September 14, 2011, 6:00 PM ET; PUBLIC comments due September 14, 2011 by 6:00 PM  
ET

## NATIONAL QUALITY FORUM

104 **CONSIDER DISPARITIES IN ALL THAT WE DO.** Some of the greatest performance gaps  
105 relate to care of minority populations. Particular attention should be focused on the most relevant  
106 race/ethnicity/language/socioeconomic strata to identify relevant measures for reporting.

107

### 108 **NATIONAL PRIORITIES PARTNERSHIP**

109 NQF seeks to endorse measures that address the National Priorities and Goals of the National  
110 Priorities Partnership.<sup>7</sup> The National Priorities Partnership represents those who receive, pay for,  
111 provide, and evaluate healthcare. The National Priorities and Goals focus on these areas:

- 112 • patient and family engagement,
- 113 • population health,
- 114 • safety,
- 115 • care coordination,
- 116 • palliative and end-of-life care,
- 117 • overuse,
- 118 • equitable access, and
- 119 • infrastructure support.

120

### 121 **NQF'S CONSENSUS DEVELOPMENT PROCESS (CDP)**

#### 122 **Patient Safety Measures Project<sup>8</sup>**

123 The National Quality Forum's National Voluntary Consensus Standards for Patient Safety  
124 Measures project seeks to endorse patient safety-related measures that address healthcare-  
125 associated infections (HAIs), medication safety, and other areas. Potential consensus standards  
126 focus on a broad range of areas including but not limited to safety risk assessment and/or risk  
127 identification, hospital standardized mortality rates, reporting and follow-up or critical test  
128 results, and leadership and culture of safety. Additionally, the project will identify gaps in patient  
129 safety measures.

130

131 This report does not represent the entire scope of NQF work relevant to patient safety. NQF has  
132 endorsed over 100 measures related to patient safety through the National Voluntary Consensus



# NATIONAL QUALITY FORUM

133 Standards for Medication Management project<sup>9</sup>, the National Voluntary Consensus Standards for  
134 the Reporting of Healthcare-Associated Infection Data<sup>10</sup> and other projects. In addition the Safe  
135 Practices for Better Healthcare: 2010 Update<sup>11</sup> provides evidence based strategies to increase  
136 patient safety.

137 The full constellation of consensus standards, along with those presented in this report, provide a  
138 growing number of NQF-endorsed<sup>®</sup> voluntary consensus standards that directly reflect the  
139 importance of measuring and improving the quality of care provided to patients. Organizations  
140 that adopt these consensus standards will promote the delivery of safer and higher-quality care  
141 for patients.

142

## 143 **Evaluating Potential Consensus Standards**

144 Candidate standards were solicited through an open “Call for Measures” in January 2010 and  
145 were actively sought by NQF staff through literature reviews, a search of the National Quality  
146 Measures Clearinghouse, NQF Member websites, and an environmental scan. The measures  
147 were evaluated using NQF’s standard evaluation criteria<sup>12</sup>. The HAI Technical Advisory Panel  
148 (TAP) rated the subcriteria for each candidate consensus standard and identified strengths and  
149 weaknesses to assist the project Steering Committee (Committee) in making recommendations.  
150 For this first report, the 21-member, multi-stakeholder Committee provided final evaluations of  
151 the four main criteria: importance to measure and report, scientific acceptability of the measure  
152 properties, usability, and feasibility. Measure developers participated in the TAP and Committee  
153 discussions to respond to questions and clarify any issues or concerns.

154

## 155 **RECOMMENDATIONS FOR ENDORSEMENT**

156 This first report of the Patient Safety Measures project presents the evaluation results of four  
157 HAI measures considered under NQF’s Consensus Development Process. All four measures are  
158 recommended for endorsement as voluntary consensus standards suitable for public reporting  
159 and quality improvement.

160

## 161 **Candidate Consensus Standards Recommended for Endorsement**

Deleted: five

Formatted: Not Highlight

Deleted: five

Formatted: Not Highlight

NQF REVIEW DRAFT—DO NOT CITE OR QUOTE

NQF MEMBER comments due September 14, 2011, 6:00 PM ET; PUBLIC comments due September 14, 2011 by 6:00 PM  
ET

# NATIONAL QUALITY FORUM

164  
165  
166  
167  
168  
169  
170  
171  
172  
173  
174  
175  
176  
177  
178  
179  
180  
181  
182  
183  
184  
185  
186  
187  
188  
189

**PSM-001-10: National Healthcare Safety Network (NHSN) Central line-associated bloodstream infection (CLABSI) outcome measure (CDC)**

Standardized Infection Ratio (SIR) of healthcare-associated, central line-associated bloodstream infections (CLABSI) will be calculated among patients in the following patient care locations:

- Intensive Care Units (ICUs)
- Specialty Care Areas (SCAs) - adult and pediatric: long term acute care, bone marrow transplant, acute dialysis, hematology/oncology, and solid organ transplant locations
- Other inpatient locations. (Data from these locations are reported from acute care general hospitals (including specialty hospitals), freestanding long term acute care hospitals, rehabilitation hospitals, and behavioral health hospitals. Only locations where patients reside overnight are included, i.e., inpatient locations.)

Formatted: Bulleted + Level: 1 + Aligned at: 18 pt + Indent at: 36 pt

Formatted: Font:

Deleted: This measure applies a standardized infection ratio (SIR) of healthcare-associated, central line-associated bloodstream infections (CLABSI) among patients in intensive care units (ICUs) and neonatal intensive care units (NICUs). PSM-001-10 is intended as a replacement for NQF-endorsed measure #0139 - Central line catheter-associated blood stream infection rate for ICU and high-risk nursery (HRN) patients.

This measure was designed to capitalize on increased reporting to the National Healthcare Safety Network (NHSN), a voluntary, nationwide HAI surveillance system managed by the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC). Hospitals and other healthcare providers use standardized definitions and protocols to report HAI data to the NHSN regularly, allowing the CDC to estimate the prevalence of HAIs, recognize trends, and assist healthcare facilities in quality improvement activities. The measure uses a standardized infection ratio (SIR) to compare a given healthcare facility's observed CLABSI rate to that facility's expected CLABSI rate. The expected rate is based on standardized rates that account for length of stay, length of central line use, patient care location, and other factors.

During the course of this project, PSM-001-10 was modified by its developer to extend the measure's scope of coverage beyond intensive care units (ICUs) and acute care hospitals to include non-ICU locations, acute care general hospitals, free standing long-term acute care

Deleted:

## NATIONAL QUALITY FORUM

200 [hospitals, rehabilitation hospitals and behavioral health hospitals where patients reside overnight,](#)  
201 [CMS has requested measures in these domains for the Inpatient Prospective Payment System](#)  
202 [\(IPPS\) reporting requirements. The measure developer noted that the measures are currently in](#)  
203 [use in non-ICU locations, acute care hospitals and inpatient and long-term care facilities.](#)

Deleted:

205 This measure addresses a high impact area; [the CDC estimates that 248,000 bloodstream](#)  
206 [infections occur in U.S. hospitals each year, and that a large proportion of these are central line-](#)  
207 [related. CLABSIs are associated with significant increases in mortality and healthcare costs.](#)<sup>13</sup>

Deleted: approximately 80,000 CLABSIs occur in intensive care units (ICUs) each year, resulting in up to 20,000 deaths and up to \$2 billion in additional costs.<sup>13</sup>

208 Moreover, evidence-based interventions have shown significant reductions in CLABSI rates and  
209 improved health outcomes. For these reasons, the Committee agreed that this [expanded](#) measure  
210 strongly meets the criteria of importance to measure and report.

211  
212 While the Committee appreciated the detail within the measure specifications, members  
213 expressed concern about the absence of a risk adjustment model or specific exclusions that  
214 consider the variability of disease severity from unit to unit or within units. Committee members  
215 also requested clarification on the measure developer's unit type classifications. The developer  
216 explained that as part of the NHSN enrollment process, facilities must map internal location to  
217 pre-defined locations in the NHSN Patient Safety Manual. The criteria or unit designation are  
218 included in the Manual. Although the measure is based on unit experience and not patient-level  
219 data, there are mechanisms to stratify patients by risk. Units with increased risk related to disease  
220 severity, [are identified as "special care areas" separate from critical care units or intensive care](#)  
221 [units \(ICUs\). The developer noted that patient-level analysis would add to the data collection and](#)  
222 [manual calculation burden. The developer added that data could be stratified on several levels](#)  
223 [including by hospital type \(i.e. teaching versus non-teaching hospital\). Ultimately, the](#)  
224 [Committee and the developer acknowledged the inevitable variability from patient to patient that](#)  
225 [might be missed with this type of unit-based analysis. Following its conference call to review the](#)  
226 [updated specifications, the Steering Committee agreed that the expanded measure meets the](#)  
227 [scientific acceptability criterion.](#)

Deleted: ,

Deleted: ,

## NATIONAL QUALITY FORUM

236 | The Committee raised several questions about how data are reported within the NHSN--  
237 specifically, the level of granularity used to report organism types and the specific reporting time  
238 period (i.e., whether reporting is cumulative, ongoing, annual, or quarterly). For public reporting,  
239 bloodstream infections are grouped together regardless of pathogen type. The developer stated  
240 that pathogen-specific data are captured on CLABSI events when available, and that appropriate  
241 exclusionary rules are applied to those events. Although annual data are published in the  
242 *American Journal of Infection Control*, the NHSN application also houses aggregate data, which  
243 provides facilities an opportunity to compare their performance with the national aggregate over  
244 specific time intervals. The developer acknowledged that they have not explored all potential  
245 issues associated with quarterly public reporting. The Committee recommended that the  
246 developer define a specific reporting timeframe, especially if the metric is adopted by a  
247 regulatory agency that requires quarterly reporting. No clarification has been received from the  
248 developer yet. The expanded measure retains the same reporting structure. The developer noted  
249 that in SCAs, because of differing infection risks, the number of patients with temporary central  
250 lines and those with permanent central lines is collected daily, at the same time each day, during  
251 the month. If a patient had both a temporary and permanent central line, the day would be  
252 counted only as a temporary central line day.

253

254 On the issue of feasibility, the Committee voiced concerns about reporting a SIR rather than a  
255 rate, since several states already mandate the reporting of CLABSI rates. The Committee  
256 questioned the usability outside NHSN participation and believed that a SIR may also lead to  
257 increased manual data collection and entry. The measure developer stated that using the SIR  
258 creates significant added value by enabling comparisons of observed HAIs to expected HAIs  
259 based on nationally aggregated data.

260

261 This outcome measure replaces NQF-endorsed measure #0139 (Central line catheter-associated  
262 blood stream infections rate for ICU and high-risk nursery (HRN) patients) and addresses the  
263 National Priority area of safety.

264 |

Deleted: would

Deleted: -

NQF REVIEW DRAFT—DO NOT CITE OR QUOTE

NQF MEMBER comments due September 14, 2011, 6:00 PM ET; PUBLIC comments due September 14, 2011 by 6:00 PM ET

# NATIONAL QUALITY FORUM

## 267 Harmonization of SSI Measures

268 The CDC and the ACS submitted two surgical site infection measures – PSM-002-10 (NHSN  
269 surgical site infection outcome measure) and PSM-006-10 (Risk adjusted surgical site infection  
270 outcome measure), respectively. The Committee compared the two SSI measures to determine if  
271 one measure could be considered best-in-class. The Committee noted that both measures capture  
272 similar information using different data sources. Steering Committee members acknowledged  
273 that each measure may offer benefits for quality improvement because they assess populations  
274 differently. Both measures are currently in use in the NSQIP and NHSN surveillance systems;  
275 however, it was difficult for the Committee to compare these measures, where the advantages  
276 and disadvantages of one measure may be offset by those of a competing measure without  
277 additional evidence from the field on their use. Committee members also discussed the  
278 possibility of harmonization.<sup>14</sup> In addition, there were a significant number of public comments  
279 on the report expressing concern about the recommendation of two potentially competing SSI  
280 measures. Ultimately, the Committee recommended both measures for endorsement,  
281 independently, with the following suggestions:

- 282 • Harmonization of both measures should be complete by the first maintenance review; and
- 283 • The developers should conduct focus groups with current NSQIP and NSHN  
284 participating facilities to assess how both surveillance programs are working, with regard  
285 to feasibility and usability.

286 At that time, the CDC and the ACS requested time to harmonize the measures, and it was agreed  
287 that this effort should be supported. The following, the newly-submitted SSI measure, represents  
288 the results of their harmonization efforts.

289  
290 **PSM-002-10: American College of Surgeons – Centers for Disease Control and Prevention**  
291 **(ACS-CDC) Harmonized Procedure Specific Surgical Site Infection (SSI) Outcome**  
292 **Measure. *Prototype measure for the facility adjusted Standardized Infection Ratio (SIR) of deep***  
293 **incisional and organ/space Surgical Site Infections (SSI) at the primary incision site among**

Deleted: surgical

Deleted: The developers are collaborating to harmonize both measures in the very near future.

Formatted: Indent: Left: 0 pt

Formatted: Font: Not Bold, Italic

# NATIONAL QUALITY FORUM

297 adult patients aged  $\geq$  18 years as reported through the ACS National Surgical Quality  
298 Improvement Program (ACS-NSQIP) or CDC National Health and Safety Network (NHSN).  
299 Prototype also includes a systematic, retrospective sampling of operative procedures in  
300 healthcare facilities. This prototype measure is intended for time-limited use and is proposed as  
301 a first step toward a more comprehensive SSI measure or set of SSI measures that include  
302 additional surgical procedure categories and expanded SSI risk-adjustment by procedure type.  
303 This single prototype measure is applied to two operative procedures, colon surgeries and  
304 abdominal hysterectomies, and the measure yields separate SIRs for each procedure.

305  
306 This surgical site infection outcome measure focuses on two procedures: colon surgeries and  
307 abdominal hysterectomies. It is specified using ICD-9-CM procedure codes for NHSN operative  
308 procedure categories, with additional CPT mappings to those categories for use in NSQIP. The  
309 target population is inpatients over 18 years old with deep incisional and organ/space SSIs. The  
310 measure will use separate Standardized Infection Ratios (SIRs) for the two operative procedure  
311 categories, and risk adjustment will be based on age and the American Society of Anesthesiology  
312 (ASA) Physical Status Classification system. For hospitals performing more than 42 colon  
313 surgeries per year, SIRs will be calculated using a sample based on the first colon surgery per 8-  
314 day cycle for hospitals. For hospitals performing over 200 abdominal hysterectomies per year,  
315 SIRs will be calculated using a sample of the first 5 abdominal hysterectomies per 8-day cycle.  
316 Data collected and reported to the ACS National Surgical Quality Improvement Program  
317 (NSQIP) would be available for data transfer to NHSN. Follow-up will occur within 30 days  
318 using admission, readmission, and post-discharge surveillance. This measure is the first in a  
319 planned larger set of measures focused on surgical procedure categories with additional risk  
320 factors incorporated.

321  
322 The measure addresses a high impact area. Each year, approximately 11 percent of all deaths in  
323 ICUs are associated with SSIs, resulting in up to 20,000 deaths and \$2 billion in additional  
324 costs.<sup>2</sup> Moreover, evidence-based interventions have shown significant reductions in SSI rates  
325 and improved health outcomes.

Formatted: Font: Not Bold

Formatted: Font: Not Bold

Formatted: Font: Not Bold

Deleted: with

Formatted: Font: Not Bold

Formatted: Font: Not Bold

Formatted: Font: Not Bold

Formatted: Font: Not Bold

Formatted: Font: Not Bold

NQF REVIEW DRAFT—DO NOT CITE OR QUOTE

NQF MEMBER comments due September 14, 2011, 6:00 PM ET; PUBLIC comments due September 14, 2011 by 6:00 PM ET

# NATIONAL QUALITY FORUM

327  
328 [The Steering Committee discussed the newly-harmonized measure in a supplemental conference](#)  
329 [call, reviewing the relevant changes, while also receiving clarification from the developers on](#)  
330 [several issues. Committee members inquired as to why these two particular measures had been](#)  
331 [chosen, and asked for clarification on the plan for public reporting. The developer explained that](#)  
332 [the Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services \(CMS\) inpatient prospective reporting system](#)  
333 [\(IPPS\) requirements released on August 1, 2011, call for abdominal hysterectomies and colon](#)  
334 [surgeries to be reported by the CDC to CMS. The NHSN will serve as the single reporting](#)  
335 [system for CMS-required reporting. However, facilities may choose which calculations of](#)  
336 [performance on the measure can be accomplished using either the NHSN or NSQIP data system.](#)  
337 [The measure developer acknowledged that for hospitals participating in both systems, there](#)  
338 [could be duplication.](#)

339  
340 [The Steering Committee questioned why both organ space and deep incisional infections were](#)  
341 [included in the measure. The developer described the approach as a long standing precedent and](#)  
342 [stated that superficial infections are considered trivial events and therefore not included.](#)  
343 [However, organ space infections that drain through the incisions are classified as deep incisional](#)  
344 [infections. The combination of organ space and deep incisional infections are considered a](#)  
345 [clinically coherent grouping.](#)

346  
347 [The Committee expressed their appreciation for the developers' efforts at harmonization, and](#)  
348 [agreed that the measure continues to meet the four major evaluation criteria. The Steering](#)  
349 [Committee recommended this measure for endorsement in a unanimous vote.](#)

350  
351  
352 [This outcome measure replaces NQF-endorsed measure #0299 \(Surgical Site Infection Rate\) and](#)  
353 [addresses the National Priority area of safety.](#)

**Deleted:** and

**Deleted: National Healthcare Safety Network (NHSN) surgical site infection (SSI) outcome measure (CDC) Standardized infection ratio (SIR) of SSIs among patients who underwent any National Healthcare Safety Network (NHSN) surgical procedure corresponding to the Surgical Care Improvement Program (SCIP) coronary artery bypass graft, other cardiac, colon, hip or knee arthroplasty, abdominal and vaginal hysterectomy, or vascular procedures. This measure is intended as a replacement for NQF-endorsed measure #0299 – Surgical site infection rate.** ¶

This measure captures deep incisional and organ/space surgical site infections and is currently used in the NHSN surveillance system. The selected procedure categories closely correspond with the Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services' (CMS') SCIP quality reporting initiative and were included in the NHSN because they focus on higher risk and higher volume procedures. Consideration was also given to procedures with strong evidence-based data on care practices and related outcomes.

**Deleted:** The measure addresses a high impact area; each year, approximately 11 percent of all deaths in ICUs are associated with SSIs, resulting in up to 20,000 deaths and \$2 billion in additional costs.<sup>2</sup> Moreover, evidence-based interventions have shown significant reductions in SSI rates and improved health outcomes. For these reasons, the Steering Committee agreed that this measure strongly meets the criteria of importance to measure and report. ¶

**Deleted:** ¶  
Similar to the CDC's CLABSI outcome measure, data for this measure are published in NHSN reports as a standardized infection ratio (SIR). The SIR calculation considers the total number of observed SSI events and the expected number using the national aggregate rates within the NHSN system. Because several states mandate rate-based SSI reporting, TAP and Committee members debated the feasibility of calculating a SIR for facilities not participating in the NHSN. The measure developer acknowledged the concern, yet believed that the utility of a SIR as an indirect standardization of cumulative SSI experiences across several stratified groups of data, specifically procedure categories, provides significant added value. ¶

... [1]

**Deleted:** –

**Deleted: PSM-006-10: Risk adjusted surgical site infection outcome measure (ACS) This is a hospital-based, risk-adjusted, case-mix-adjusted surgical site infection measure of adults 18 years of age and over.** ¶

Similar to measure #PSM-002-10, this measure counts the number of SSIs associated with a subset of procedures used in the American College of Surgeons (ACS) National Surgical Quality ... [2]

# NATIONAL QUALITY FORUM

486 **PSM-003-10: National Healthcare Safety Network (NHSN) Catheter-associated urinary**  
487 **tract Infection (CAUTI) outcome measure (CDC).** Standardized Infection Ratio (SIR) of  
488 healthcare-associated, catheter-associated urinary tract infections (CAUTI) will be calculated  
489 among patients in the following patient care locations:

- 490 • Intensive Care Units (ICUs) (excluding patients in neonatal ICUs [NICUs: Level II/III  
491 and Level III nurseries])
- 492 • Specialty Care Areas (SCAs) - adult and pediatric: long term acute care, bone marrow  
493 transplant, acute dialysis, hematology/oncology, and solid organ transplant locations
- 494 • Other inpatient locations (excluding Level I and Level II nurseries).

495 Data from these locations are reported from acute care general hospitals (including specialty  
496 hospitals), freestanding long term acute care hospitals, rehabilitation hospitals, and behavioral  
497 health hospitals. Only locations where patients reside overnight are included, i.e., inpatient  
498 locations.

499 Urinary tract infections are estimated to be the most frequently-occurring HAIs, accounting for  
500 approximately 36 percent of HAIs in U.S. hospitals.<sup>15</sup> UTIs can cause significant increases in  
501 morbidity, mortality, and costs. The Steering Committee agreed that this measure strongly meets  
502 the criteria for importance to measure and report.

503  
504 During the course of this project, PSM-003-10 was modified by its developer to extend the  
505 measure's scope of coverage beyond intensive care units (ICUs) and acute care hospitals to  
506 include non-ICU locations, acute care general hospitals, free standing long-term acute care  
507 hospitals, rehabilitation hospitals and behavioral health hospitals where patients reside overnight.  
508 CMS has requested measures in these domains for IPPS reporting requirements. The measure  
509 developer noted that the measures are currently in use in non-ICU locations, acute care hospitals  
510 and inpatient and long-term care facilities.

511  
512 Similar to the CDC's CLABSI and SSI outcome measures, this measure uses a SIR to compare a  
513 given healthcare facility's observed CAUTI rate to that facility's expected CAUTI rate. The  
514 expected rate is based on standardized rates that account for length of stay, length of urinary

**Deleted: Head-to-Head Comparison of SSI Measures (#PSM-002-10 and #PSM-006-10)**  
The Committee compared the two SSI measures, measure #PSM-002-10 and measure #PSM-006-10, to determine if one measure could be considered best-in-class. The Committee noted that both measures capture similar information using different data sources. Steering Committee members acknowledged that each measure may offer benefits for quality improvement because they assess populations differently. Both measures are currently in use in the NSQIP and NHSN surveillance systems; however, it was difficult for the Committee to compare these measures, where the advantages and disadvantages of one measure may be offset by those of a competing measure without additional evidence from the field on their use. Committee members also discussed the possibility of harmonization.<sup>14</sup> The developers are collaborating to harmonize both measures in the very near future. Ultimately, the Committee recommended both measures for endorsement, independently, with the following suggestions:  
<#>Harmonization of both measures should be complete by the first maintenance review; and  
The developers should conduct focus groups with current NSQIP and NHSN participating facilities to assess how both surveillance programs are working, with regard to feasibility and usability.

**Formatted: Font: Not Bold, Italic**

**Formatted: Bulleted + Level: 1 + Aligned at: 18 pt + Indent at: 36 pt**

**Formatted: Font: Not Bold, Italic**

**Deleted: This measure applies a standardized infection ratio (SIR) of healthcare-associated, catheter-associated urinary tract infections (CAUTI) among patients in intensive care units (ICUs), excluding patients in neonatal ICUs (NICUs). This measure is intended as a replacement for NQF-endorsed measure #0138 - Urinary catheter-associated urinary tract infection for intensive care unit (ICU) patients.**

**Deleted:**

**Deleted:**



## NATIONAL QUALITY FORUM

556 catheterization, patient care location, and other factors. As with previous discussions about the  
557 CDC's CLABSI and SSI measures, the Committee questioned the usability outside NHSN  
558 participation and believed that a SIR may also lead to increased manual data collection and entry.  
559 The developer reiterated the benefits of utilizing an indirect standardization of cumulative SSI  
560 experiences across several stratified groups of data.

561  
562 Measure development in this topic area has generally focused on specific sites and/or settings  
563 like nursing homes. The Committee discussed the benefits of developing more cross-cutting  
564 measures and suggested broader application beyond the ICU (i.e., to long term care settings  
565 across the whole continuum of care) in the future. [The CDC's subsequent update to PSM-003-  
566 10 expanded application of the measure to Specialty Care Areas and other inpatient locations  
567 \(excluding Level I and Level II nurseries\). Following its conference call to review the updated  
568 specifications, the Steering Committee agreed that the expanded measure continues to meet the  
569 major evaluation criteria.](#)

570  
571 This outcome measure replaces NQF-endorsed measure #0138 (Urinary catheter-associated  
572 urinary tract infection for intensive care unit (ICU) patients) and addresses the National Priority  
573 area of safety.

574 **PSM-007-10: Risk Adjusted Urinary Tract Infection Outcome Measure (ACS)** *This is a risk*  
575 *adjusted, case mix adjusted urinary tract infection outcome measure of adults 18+ years after*  
576 *surgical procedure.*

577 This measure is currently used in the ACS NSQIP surveillance system. The developer reiterated  
578 that the measure assesses UTIs within 30 days of surgical procedure and it is not catheter-  
579 specific. Nonetheless, urinary catheterizations account for the vast majority of UTIs. In a recent  
580 study of 36,000 major surgery patients, 86 percent of the study cohort had perioperative urinary  
581 catheters. Patients who had indwelling catheters for longer than two days postoperative, were  
582 twice as likely to develop a catheter associated urinary tract infection (CAUTI).<sup>16</sup> In monetary  
583 terms, UTIs contribute to approximately \$340-450 million in additional health care costs

Deleted: addresses

Deleted:

NQF REVIEW DRAFT—DO NOT CITE OR QUOTE

NQF MEMBER comments due September 14, 2011, 6:00 PM ET; PUBLIC comments due September 14, 2011 by 6:00 PM  
ET

## NATIONAL QUALITY FORUM

586 annually.<sup>17</sup> For these reasons, the Steering Committee agreed that this measure strongly meets  
587 the criteria for importance to measure and report.

588 Both TAP and Committee members were concerned that reliability and validity testing have only  
589 been conducted through modeling. The developer noted that inter-rater reliability is tested  
590 regularly. The Committee observed that, based on the model's estimates, a minimum case load  
591 of approximately 300 patients is required to achieve adequate reliability. Some members were  
592 concerned that the data collection associated with this requirement could impose a burden on  
593 providers

594 The 30-day patient follow-up, specifically the clinical expertise needed to identify and  
595 differentiate infections and all associated financial costs, were cited by TAP and Committee  
596 members as a barrier to data collection and implementation.

597 The Committee also discussed the benefits of developing more cross-cutting measures and  
598 suggested broader application beyond the surgical population.

599 This outcome measure addresses the National Priority area of safety.

600

### 601 **Head-to-Head Comparison of UTI measures (#PSM-003-10 and #PSM-007-10)**

602 The Steering Committee evaluated the benefits of potential harmonization between proposed  
603 measures #PSM-003-10 and #PSM-007-10. Although both measures address UTIs, the  
604 Committee noted that there are substantial differences between the targeted populations and data  
605 sources of the measures. [Even with the subsequent expansion of #PSM-003-10, the Committee](#)  
606 [agreed that there would still be value in having both measures.](#) Therefore, the Committee did not  
607 think that it was necessary to make a determination on best-in-class or render a recommendation  
608 for harmonization.

609

610

# NATIONAL QUALITY FORUM

## 611 **Additional Recommendations**

612

613 Steering Committee members presented the following recommendations for further research and  
614 measure development:

615

616 Increasing opportunities to harmonize would relieve some of the current reporting burden. In  
617 some cases, harmonization would be prudent and useful. However, it is important to note that  
618 harmonization may not be feasible in all circumstances. Therefore, clustering measures into  
619 meaningful topic categories that creates a suite of tools might assist the healthcare industry with  
620 evaluating measures at multiple levels. For example, in the case of urinary tract infections, a  
621 cluster of measures could be identified that uses any one of the following: lab results, physician  
622 diagnosis from empirical symptoms, a transfer diagnosis from hospital to long-term care, patient  
623 qualitative report, device usage patterns, or physician antibiotic orders. Defining the numerators  
624 and denominators would vary depending on the source and use of the data. The selection of the  
625 right measure would depend on the users' intentions.

626

627 As clinical information technologies become fully deployed throughout the healthcare system,  
628 antibiotics or lab result data may be useful from a surveillance perspective for public  
629 accountability, while clinical judgment and empirical symptoms may be more useful for  
630 improved patient care. Further discussion about this issue is needed to more clearly define the  
631 usability characteristics of each measure in relationship to other similar measures. Only by  
632 clustering the measures into groups can in-depth analysis of the similarities and the differences  
633 be obtained. From there, more thoughtful dialogue on the "value" of each measure can be  
634 assessed.

635

NQF REVIEW DRAFT—DO NOT CITE OR QUOTE

NQF MEMBER comments due September 14, 2011, 6:00 PM ET; PUBLIC comments due September 14, 2011 by 6:00 PM  
ET

# NATIONAL QUALITY FORUM

## 636 NOTES

- 637 1. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC). Estimates of Healthcare-Associated  
638 Infections. CDC; 2010. Available at <http://www.cdc.gov/ncidod/dhqp/hai.html>. Last  
639 accessed October 2010.
- 640 2. Scott II, RD. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC). The Direct Medical  
641 Costs of Healthcare-Associated Infections in U.S. Hospitals and the Benefits of  
642 Prevention. CDC; 2010. Available at  
643 [http://www.cdc.gov/ncidod/dhqp/pdf/Scott\\_CostPaper.pdf](http://www.cdc.gov/ncidod/dhqp/pdf/Scott_CostPaper.pdf). Last accessed October 2010.
- 644 3. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC). External Peer Review of the Division  
645 of Healthcare Quality Promotion Surveillance Branch Final Report of the External Peer  
646 Review. CDC; 2008. Available at  
647 [http://www.cdc.gov/nhsn/PDFs/SurveillanceBranchPeerReviewReprot\\_Excerpts\\_MAY2](http://www.cdc.gov/nhsn/PDFs/SurveillanceBranchPeerReviewReprot_Excerpts_MAY2008.pdf)  
648 [008.pdf](http://www.cdc.gov/nhsn/PDFs/SurveillanceBranchPeerReviewReprot_Excerpts_MAY2008.pdf). Last accessed October 2010.
- 649 4. National Conference of State Legislatures (NCSL). Lessons from the Pioneers Reporting  
650 Healthcare-Associated Infections. NCSL; 2010. Available at  
651 <http://www.ncsl.org/documents/health/haireport.pdf> . Last accessed October 2010.
- 652 5. Ibid.
- 653 6. McKinney, M. The infection connection. *Modern Healthcare*, August 9, 2010:6-7, 16,  
654 p.6. Available at <http://www.modernhealthcare.com/assets/pdf/CH7067686.PDF>. Last  
655 accessed October 2010.
- 656 7. National Quality Forum (NQF), National Priorities Partnership, Washington, DC: NQF.  
657 Available at [www.nationalprioritiespartnership.org](http://www.nationalprioritiespartnership.org). Last accessed October 2010.
- 658 8. [http://www.qualityforum.org/projects/patient\\_safety\\_measures.aspx](http://www.qualityforum.org/projects/patient_safety_measures.aspx). Last accessed  
659 October 2010.
- 660 9. [http://www.qualityforum.org/Publications/2010/05/National\\_Voluntary\\_Consensus\\_Stan](http://www.qualityforum.org/Publications/2010/05/National_Voluntary_Consensus_Standards_for_Medication_Management.aspx)  
661 [dards\\_for\\_Medication\\_Management.aspx](http://www.qualityforum.org/Publications/2010/05/National_Voluntary_Consensus_Standards_for_Medication_Management.aspx). Last accessed October 2010.
- 662 10. [http://www.qualityforum.org/Publications/2008/03/National\\_Voluntary\\_Consensus\\_Stan](http://www.qualityforum.org/Publications/2008/03/National_Voluntary_Consensus_Standards_for_the_Reporting_of_Healthcare-Associated_Infection_Data.aspx)  
663 [dards\\_for\\_the\\_Reporting\\_of\\_Healthcare-Associated\\_Infection\\_Data.aspx](http://www.qualityforum.org/Publications/2008/03/National_Voluntary_Consensus_Standards_for_the_Reporting_of_Healthcare-Associated_Infection_Data.aspx). Last accessed  
664 October 2010.

## NATIONAL QUALITY FORUM

- 665 11. [http://www.qualityforum.org/Publications/2010/04/Safe\\_Practices\\_for\\_Better\\_Healthcare](http://www.qualityforum.org/Publications/2010/04/Safe_Practices_for_Better_Healthcare)  
666 [– 2010\\_Update.aspx](#). Last accessed September 2010.
- 667 12. NQF. Measure Evaluation Criteria. Washington, DC: NQF; 2008. Available at  
668 [http://www.qualityforum.org/docs/measure\\_evaluation\\_criteria.aspx](http://www.qualityforum.org/docs/measure_evaluation_criteria.aspx). Last accessed  
669 October 2010.
- 670 13. Saint S, Savel RH, Matthay MA. “Enhancing the Safety of Critically Ill Patients by  
671 Reducing Urinary and Central Venous Catheter-related Infections.” *American Journal of*  
672 *Respiratory Critical Care Med.* 2002;165:1475-1479.
- 673 14. Harmonization refers to the standardization of specifications for similar measures on the  
674 same topic (e.g., *influenza immunization* of patients in hospitals or nursing homes), or  
675 related measures for the same target population (e.g., eye exam and HbA1c for *patients*  
676 *with diabetes*), or definitions applicable to many measures (e.g., age designation for  
677 children) so that they are uniform or compatible, unless differences are dictated by the  
678 evidence. The dimensions of harmonization can include numerator, denominator,  
679 exclusions, and data source and collection instructions. The extent of harmonization  
680 depends on the relationship of the measures, the evidence for the specific measure focus,  
681 and differences in data sources.
- 682 15. Klevens RM, Edwards JR, Richards CL, Jr. “Estimating Health Care-Associated  
683 Infections and Deaths in U.S. Hospitals.” *Public Health Reports.* March-April,  
684 2002;122:160-166.
- 685 16. Wald HL, Ma A, Bratzler DW, Kramer AM. “Indwelling urinary catheter use in the  
686 postoperative period: analysis of the national surgical infection prevention project data.”  
687 *Archives of Surgery.* June 2008;143(6):551-557.
- 688 17. Stone PW, Braccia D, Larson E. “Systematic review of economic analyses of health care-  
689 associated infections.” *American Journal of Infection Control.* November  
690 2005;33(9):501-509.

NQF REVIEW DRAFT—DO NOT CITE OR QUOTE

NQF MEMBER comments due September 14, 2011, 6:00 PM ET; PUBLIC comments due September 14, 2011 by 6:00 PM ET

**NATIONAL VOLUNTARY CONSENSUS STANDARDS FOR PATIENT SAFETY MEASURES:  
A CONSENSUS REPORT  
APPENDIX A: MEASURE SPECIFICATIONS**

The following table presents the detailed specifications for the National Quality Forum (NQF)-endorsed<sup>®</sup> *National Voluntary Consensus Standards for Patient Safety*. All information presented has been derived directly from measure sources/developers without modifications or alteration (except when the measure developer agreed to such modifications during the NQF Consensus Development Process) and is current as of August 29, 2010. All NQF-endorsed voluntary consensus standards are open source, meaning they are fully accessible and disclosed. Measures were developed by the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, and the American College of Surgeons.

Measure Numbers	Measure Title	Measure Steward	Measure Description	Numerator	Denominator	Exclusions	Data Source	Level of Analysis
PSM-001-10	National Healthcare Safety Network (NHSN) Central line-associated Bloodstream Infection (CLABSI) Outcome Measure	Centers for Disease Control and Prevention	Standardized Infection Ratio (SIR) of healthcare-associated, central line-associated bloodstream infections (CLABSI) <i>among patients in intensive care units (ICUs) and Neonatal Intensive Care Units (NICUs) will be calculated among patients in the following patient care locations:</i> <i>• Intensive</i>	Total number of observed healthcare-associated CLABSI among patients in ICUs, <del>and</del> NICUs, <i>SCAs and other acute care hospital locations where patients reside overnight.</i>	Total number of expected CLABSIs, calculated by multiplying the number of central line device days for each location under surveillance for CLABSI during the period by the CLABSI rate for the same types of locations obtained from the standard population. Central line device-day denominator data that are collected differ according to the location of the patients being monitored. See 2a.8.	1. Pacemaker wires and other nonlumened devices inserted into central blood vessels or the heart are excluded as central lines 2. Peripheral intravenous lines are excluded from this measure	Electronic clinical data; Electronic Health/Medical Record; Lab data; Paper medical record/ flow-sheet; Special or unique data	Population: states; Facility/ Agency; Population: national

This draft document was prepared by the National Quality Forum ([www.qualityforum.org](http://www.qualityforum.org)). It may not be disseminated or reproduced without written permission from NQF.

**NATIONAL VOLUNTARY CONSENSUS STANDARDS FOR PATIENT SAFETY MEASURES:  
A CONSENSUS REPORT  
APPENDIX A: MEASURE SPECIFICATIONS**

				<p><u>Care Units (ICUs)</u></p> <ul style="list-style-type: none"> <li>• <u>Specialty Care Areas (SCAs) - adult and pediatric: long term acute care, bone marrow transplant, acute dialysis, hematology/oncology, and solid organ transplant locations</u></li> <li>• <u>other inpatient locations. (Data from these locations are reported from acute care general hospitals (including specialty hospitals), freestanding long term acute care hospitals, rehabilitation hospitals, and</u></li> </ul>					
--	--	--	--	--	--	--	--	--	--

This draft document was prepared by the National Quality Forum ([www.qualityforum.org](http://www.qualityforum.org)). It may not be disseminated or reproduced without written permission from NQF.

**NATIONAL VOLUNTARY CONSENSUS STANDARDS FOR PATIENT SAFETY MEASURES:  
A CONSENSUS REPORT  
APPENDIX A: MEASURE SPECIFICATIONS**

			<u>behavioral health hospitals. Only locations where patients reside overnight are included, i.e., inpatient locations.</u>						
--	--	--	---	--	--	--	--	--	--



**NATIONAL VOLUNTARY CONSENSUS STANDARDS FOR PATIENT SAFETY MEASURES:  
A CONSENSUS REPORT  
APPENDIX A: MEASURE SPECIFICATIONS**

Measure Numbers	Measure Title	Measure Steward	Measure Description	Numerator	Denominator	Exclusions	Data Source	Level of Analysis
PSM-002-10	<a href="#">National Healthcare Safety Network (NHSN) Surgical Site Infection (SSI) Outcome Measure American College of Surgeons - Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (ACS-CDC) Harmonized Procedure Specific Surgical Site Infection (SSI) Outcome Measure</a>	<a href="#">American College of Surgeons- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (ACS-CDC)</a>	<a href="#">Standardized Infection Ratio (SIR) of deep incisional and organ/space Surgical Site Infections (SSI) at the primary incision site among patients undergoing selected inpatient operative procedure categories. Prototype measure for the facility adjusted Standardized Infection Ratio (SIR) of deep incisional and organ/space Surgical Site Infections (SSI) at the primary incision site among adult patients aged &gt;= 18 years as</a>	<a href="#">Total number of observed deep incisional primary (DIP) and organ/space SSIs detected during admission or readmission among patients who have undergone the following inpatient NHSN operative procedure categories: 1. Abdominal Aortic Aneurysm Repair (AAA) 2. Coronary Artery Bypass Graft with both chest and donor site incisions (CBGB); only SSI from the chest (primary site) are included 3. Coronary Artery Bypass Graft with chest incision only (CBGC) 4. Colon surgery (COLO) 5. Hip Arthroplasty (HPRO) 6. Abdominal Hysterectomy (HYST) 7. Knee Arthroplasty (KPRO) 8. Peripheral Vascular Bypass surgery (PVBY) 9. Rectal surgery (REC) 10. Vaginal Hysterectomy (VHYS) Deep incisional primary</a>	<a href="#">Using multivariable procedure specific logistic regression models, the expected number of SSIs is obtained. These expected numbers are summed across strata (e.g., procedure categories, surgeons, etc) and used as the denominator of this measure (see also 2a.8). Using multivariable logistic regression models for colon surgeries and abdominal hysterectomies, the expected number of SSIs is obtained. These expected numbers are summed by facility and surgical procedure and used as the denominator of this measure (see also 2a.8).</a>	<a href="#">None Persons under the age of 18, those having a procedure performed on an outpatient basis, those with ASA Class VI (6) are excluded. In the NHSN, patients without primary closure of the surgical incision are not considered eligible cases and are excluded- the NSQIP will match this practice for this measure, although this is not standard practice within the NSQIP.</a>	<a href="#">Electronic clinical data; Electronic Health/ Medical Record; Lab data; Paper medical record/ flow-sheet; Special or unique data</a>	<a href="#">Facility/ Agency; Population: national; Population: states</a>

This draft document was prepared by the National Quality Forum ([www.qualityforum.org](http://www.qualityforum.org)). It may not be disseminated or reproduced without written permission from NQF.

**NATIONAL VOLUNTARY CONSENSUS STANDARDS FOR PATIENT SAFETY MEASURES:  
A CONSENSUS REPORT  
APPENDIX A: MEASURE SPECIFICATIONS**

Measure Numbers	Measure Title	Measure Steward	Measure Description	Numerator	Denominator	Exclusions	Data Source	Level of Analysis
			<p><u>reported through the ACS National Surgical Quality Improvement Program (ACS-NSQIP) or CDC National Health and Safety Network (NHSN). Prototype also includes a systematic, retrospective sampling of operative procedures in healthcare facilities. This prototype measure is intended for time-limited use and is proposed as a first step toward a more comprehensive SSI measure or</u></p>	<p><u>(DIP) and organ/space SSIs during the 30-day postoperative period among patients = 18 years of age, who undergo inpatient colon surgeries or abdominal hysterectomies. SSIs will be identified before discharge from the hospital, upon readmission to the same hospital, or during outpatient care or admission to another hospital (post-discharge surveillance). Case accrual will be guided by sampling algorithms as described below.</u></p>				

This draft document was prepared by the National Quality Forum ([www.qualityforum.org](http://www.qualityforum.org)). It may not be disseminated or reproduced without written permission from NQF.

**NATIONAL VOLUNTARY CONSENSUS STANDARDS FOR PATIENT SAFETY MEASURES:  
A CONSENSUS REPORT  
APPENDIX A: MEASURE SPECIFICATIONS**

Measure Numbers	Measure Title	Measure Steward	Measure Description	Numerator	Denominator	Exclusions	Data Source	Level of Analysis
			<u>set of SSI measures that include additional surgical procedure categories and expanded SSI risk-adjustment by procedure type. This single prototype measure is applied to two operative procedures, colon surgeries and abdominal hysterectomies, and the measure yields separate SIRs for each procedure.</u>					

This draft document was prepared by the National Quality Forum ([www.qualityforum.org](http://www.qualityforum.org)). It may not be disseminated or reproduced without written permission from NQF.

**NATIONAL VOLUNTARY CONSENSUS STANDARDS FOR PATIENT SAFETY MEASURES:  
A CONSENSUS REPORT  
APPENDIX A: MEASURE SPECIFICATIONS**

Measure Numbers	Measure Title	Measure Steward	Measure Description	Numerator	Denominator	Exclusions	Data Source	Level of Analysis
PSM-006-10	Risk-Adjusted Surgical Site Infection Outcome Measure	American College of Surgeons	This is a hospital based, risk-adjusted, case-mix adjusted surgical site infection measure of adults 18 years of age and over.	The outcome of interest is a hospital-specific risk-adjusted Deep Incisional Surgical Site Infection (SSI) or Organ/Space SSI as defined by American College of Surgeons National Surgical Quality Improvement Program (ACS NSQIP), occurring within 30 days of any of the listed CPT surgical procedures. The list of eligible CPT codes is attached.	Patients undergoing any of the specified list of eligible CPT surgical procedure codes. See separate attached list of eligible CPT codes.	Major trauma and transplant surgeries are excluded as are surgeries not on the supplied CPT list as eligible for selection. Patients who are ASA 6 (brain death organ donor) are not eligible surgical cases. A patient who has a second surgical procedure performed within 30 days after an index procedure cannot be accrued into the measure as a new (second) index procedure since the measure is based on 30-day outcomes.	Documentation of original self-assessment; Paper medical record/flow-sheet; Pharmacy data; Electronic clinical data; Electronic Health/Medical Record; Lab data; Management data	Facility/Agency; Population: national; Population: regional/network; Population: states

This draft document was prepared by the National Quality Forum ([www.qualityforum.org](http://www.qualityforum.org)). It may not be disseminated or reproduced without written permission from NQF.

**NATIONAL VOLUNTARY CONSENSUS STANDARDS FOR PATIENT SAFETY MEASURES:  
A CONSENSUS REPORT  
APPENDIX A: MEASURE SPECIFICATIONS**

Measure Numbers	Measure Title	Measure Steward	Measure Description	Numerator	Denominator	Exclusions	Data Source	Level of Analysis
PSM-003-10	National Healthcare Safety Network (NHSN) Catheter-associated Urinary Tract Infection (CAUTI) Outcome Measure	Centers for Disease Control and Prevention	Standardized Infection Ratio (SIR) of healthcare-associated, catheter-associated urinary tract infections (CAUTI) <u>among patients in intensive care units (ICUs), excluding patients in neonatal ICUs (NICUs) will be calculated among patients in the following patient care locations:</u> <ul style="list-style-type: none"> <li>• <u>Intensive Care Units (ICUs)</u> (excluding patients in neonatal ICUs)</li> </ul>	Total number of observed healthcare-associated CAUTI among patients in ICUs (excluding patients in NICUs), <u>SCAs, and other inpatient locations (excluding Level I and Level II nurseries).</u>	Total number of expected CAUTIs, which is calculated by multiplying the number of urinary catheter days for each location under surveillance for CAUTI during the period by the CAUTI rate for the same types of locations obtained from the standard population. These expected numbers are summed across locations and used as the denominator of this measure (see also 2a.8).	Non-indwelling catheters by NHSN definitions: 1. Suprapubic catheters 2. Condom catheters 3. "In and out" catheterizations	Electronic clinical data; Electronic Health/Medical Record; Lab data; Paper medical record/ flow-sheet; Special or unique data	Population: states; Population: national; Facility/ Agency

This draft document was prepared by the National Quality Forum ([www.qualityforum.org](http://www.qualityforum.org)). It may not be disseminated or reproduced without written permission from NQF.

**NATIONAL VOLUNTARY CONSENSUS STANDARDS FOR PATIENT SAFETY MEASURES:  
A CONSENSUS REPORT  
APPENDIX A: MEASURE SPECIFICATIONS**

				<p><u>[NICUs: Level II/III and Level III nurseries]</u></p> <ul style="list-style-type: none"> <li>• <u>Specialty Care Areas (SCAs) - adult and pediatric: long term acute care, bone marrow transplant, acute dialysis, hematology/oncology, and solid organ transplant locations</u></li> <li>• <u>other inpatient locations (excluding Level I and Level II nurseries).</u></li> </ul> <p><u>Data from these locations are reported from acute care general hospitals (including specialty</u></p>					
--	--	--	--	---	--	--	--	--	--

This draft document was prepared by the National Quality Forum ([www.qualityforum.org](http://www.qualityforum.org)). It may not be disseminated or reproduced without written permission from NQF.

**NATIONAL VOLUNTARY CONSENSUS STANDARDS FOR PATIENT SAFETY MEASURES:  
A CONSENSUS REPORT  
APPENDIX A: MEASURE SPECIFICATIONS**

				<u>hospitals),</u> <u>freestanding</u> <u>long term</u> <u>acute care</u> <u>hospitals,</u> <u>rehabilitation</u> <u>hospitals, and</u> <u>behavioral</u> <u>health</u> <u>hospitals.</u> <u>Only locations</u> <u>where patients</u> <u>reside</u> <u>overnight are</u> <u>included, i.e.,</u> <u>inpatient</u> <u>locations.</u>					
--	--	--	--	--	--	--	--	--	--

**NATIONAL VOLUNTARY CONSENSUS STANDARDS FOR PATIENT SAFETY MEASURES:  
A CONSENSUS REPORT  
APPENDIX A: MEASURE SPECIFICATIONS**

Measure Numbers	Measure Title	Measure Steward	Measure Description	Numerator	Denominator	Exclusions	Data Source	Level of Analysis
PSM-007-10	Risk Adjusted Urinary Tract Infection Outcome Measure After Surgery	American College of Surgeons	Risk adjusted, case mix adjusted urinary tract infection outcome measure of adults 18+ years after surgical procedure.	The outcome of interest is a hospital-specific assessment of risk-adjusted Urinary Tract Infection (UTI: as defined by American College of Surgeons National Surgical Quality Improvement Program (ACS NSQIP) defined below) within 30 days of any listed (CPT) surgical procedure: the list of eligible CPT codes is attached separately.	Patients undergoing any of the listed (CPT) surgical procedures- list is attached separately. Specifically excluded are certain CPTs involving the urinary tract (excluded: 50220, 50545, 50400, 50205, 51040, 54640, 53852, 55866, 52450, 52234). See attached submitted list of eligible CPT codes.	Major trauma and transplant surgeries are excluded as are surgeries not on the supplied CPT list as eligible for selection. Patients who are ASA 6 (brain-death organ donor) are not eligible surgical cases. A patient who has a second surgical procedure performed within 30 days after an index procedure cannot be accrued into the measure as a new (second) index procedure since the measure is based on 30 day outcomes.	Documentation of original self-assessment; Paper medical record/ flow-sheet; Pharmacy data; Electronic clinical data; Electronic Health/ Medical Record; Lab data; Management data	Facility/ Agency; Population: national; Population: regional/ network; Population: states

This draft document was prepared by the National Quality Forum ([www.qualityforum.org](http://www.qualityforum.org)). It may not be disseminated or reproduced without written permission from NQF.





## **Patient Safety Measures HAI TAP**

### **Dr. Darrell A. Campbell, Jr., MD (Chair)**

University of Michigan Hospitals & Health Centers, Ann Arbor, MI

### **Ms. Jan Allison, RN**

Surgical Care Affiliates, Washington, OK

### **Ms. Sue Barnes, RN, BSN, CIC**

Kaiser Permanente, Oakland, CA

### **Dr. Brian Fennerty, MD**

Oregon Health & Science University, Portland, OR

### **Dr. Juan Sanchez, MD, MPA**

Saint Mary's Health System, Waterbury, CT

### **Ms. Carolyn C. Scott, RN, MEd, MHA**

Premier, Charlotte, NC

### **Dr. Kathleen Squires, MD**

Thomas Jefferson University Hospital, Philadelphia, PA

### **Dr. Patricia Stone, PhD, FAAN**

Columbia University, New York, NY

## **Patient Safety Measures Steering Committee**

### **William Conway, MD (Co-Chair)**

Henry Ford Health System, Birmingham, MI

### **Lisa Thiemann, CRNA, MNA (Co-Chair)**

American Association of Nurse Anesthetists, Park Ridge, IL

### **Jan Allison, RN**

Surgical Care Affiliates, Washington, OK

**Robert Bunting, MSA, CPHRM, CPHQ, MT**

WellPoint, Columbus, GA

**Darrell Campbell, MD**

University of Michigan Hospitals & Health Centers, Ann Arbor, MI

**Steven Clark, MD**

Hospital Corporation of America, Nashville, TN

**Cynthia de Luise, MPH, PhD**

Pfizer, New York, NY

**Ellis Diamond, MD**

Tri-City Medical Center, Oceanside, CA

**Donald Kennerly, MD, PhD**

Baylor Health Care System, Dallas, TX

**Clifton Knight, MD**

Community Hospital of Indiana, Inc., Indianapolis, IN

**Kris Kowdley, MD, FACP, FACG, FA**

Virginia Mason Medical Center, Seattle, WA

**Stephen Lawless, MD, MBA**

Nemours Foundation, Wilmington, DE

**Alan Levine**

Consumers Advancing Patient Safety, Alexandria, VA

**Stephen Muething, MD**

Cincinnati Children's Hospital Medical Center, Cincinnati, OH

**Janet Nagamine, MD, RN**

Society of Hospital Medicine, Aptos, CA

**Paul Nagy, PhD**

University of Maryland School of Medicine, Baltimore, MD

**David Nau, PhD, RPh, CPHQ**

Pharmacy Quality Alliance, Lexington, KY

**Paul Sierzenski, MD**

Pharmacy Quality Alliance, Lexington, KY

**Daniel Solomon, MD**

Brigham and Women's Hospital, Boston, MA

**Iona Thraen, MSW**

Utah Department of Health, Salt Lake City, Utah

**David Turner, MD, PhD, MPH**

Monsanto, Saint Louis, MO

**NQF Staff**

**Peter Angood, MD**

Senior Advisor

**Heidi Bossley, MSN, MBA**

Managing Director

**Helen Burstin, MD**

Senior Vice President

**Andrew Lyzenga, MPP**

Project Manager

**Elisa Munthali, MPH**

Project Manager

**Lindsey Tighe, MPH**

Research Analyst

**Jessica Weber, MPH**

Research Analyst

## NQF-endorsed® Healthcare-associated Infections Measures

<b>Measure# 0138: Urinary catheter-associated urinary tract infection for intensive care unit (ICU) patients</b>	
Steward	Centers for Disease Control and Prevention
Description	Percentage of intensive care unit patients with urinary catheter-associated urinary tract infections
Numerator	Number of indwelling urinary catheter-associated UTIs (defined by CDC case definitions of symptomatic UTI or asymptomatic bacteriuria, excludes other infections of the urinary tract ) x 1,000
Denominator	Number of indwelling urinary catheter days for ICU patients ?Reported by type of ICU (coronary, cardiothoracic, medical, medical-surgical (major teaching and all others), neurosurgical, pediatric, surgical, trauma, burn, and respiratory)
Exclusions	
Risk Adjustment	Comparisons are made among ICUs of similar type: Coronary, Cardiothoracic, medical, medical-surgical (major teaching and all others), Neurosurgical, Pediatric, Surgical, Trauma, Burn and Respiratory
Data Source	Electronic Clinical Database
Level	Facility (e.g., hospital, nursing home)
Setting	Hospital
<b>Measure# 0139: Central line catheter-associated blood stream infection rate for ICU and high-risk nursery (HRN) patients</b>	
Steward	Centers for Disease Control and Prevention
Description	Percentage of ICU and high-risk nursery patients, who over a certain amount of days acquired a central line catheter-associated blood stream infections over a specified amount of line-days
Numerator	Number of central line-associated blood stream infections (laboratory-confirmed bloodstream infection or clinical sepsis) x 1,000 Number of umbilical and central line-associated blood stream infections (laboratory-confirmed bloodstream infection or clinical sepsis) x 1,000
Denominator	Number of central line-days for ICU patients. Reported by type of ICU (coronary, cardiothoracic, medical, medical-surgical (major teaching and all others), neurosurgical, pediatric, surgical, trauma, burn, and respiratory)  Number of central-line days for HRN patients ?Reported for HRNs by birth weight category (<1,000, 1,001-1,500, 1,501-2,500, and >2,500g)
Exclusions	
Risk Adjustment	The measure is reported stratified by ICU-type, and the denominator as stated per 1,000 line days adjusts for the increased risk over time after a central line is inserted
Data Source	Electronic Clinical Database
Level	Facility (e.g., hospital, nursing home)
Setting	Hospital

<b>Measure# 0140: Ventilator-associated pneumonia for ICU and high-risk nursery (HRN) patients</b>	
Steward	Centers for Disease Control and Prevention
Description	Percentage of ICU and HRN patients who over a certain amount of days have ventilator-associated pneumonia
Numerator	Number of ventilator-associated pneumonias × 1,000
Denominator	Number of ventilator-days for ICU patients: Reported by type of ICU (coronary, cardiothoracic, medical, medical-surgical (major teaching and all others), neurosurgical, pediatric, surgical, trauma, burn, and respiratory) Number of ventilator days for HRN patients: Reported for HRNs by birth weight category (<1,000, 1,001-1,500, 1,501-2,500, and >2,500g)
Exclusions	
Risk Adjustment	Risk Adjustment: This measure of ventilator-associated pneumonias per ventilator days is adjusted for the major risk factor, which is use of catheters, as well as length of stay.
Data Source	Electronic Clinical Database
Level	Facility (e.g., hospital, nursing home)
Setting	Hospital
<b>Measure# 0196: Residents with a urinary tract infection</b>	
Steward	Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services
Description	Percentage of residents on most recent assessment with a urinary tract infection
Numerator	Residents with urinary tract infection on target assessment. (I2j = checked)
Denominator	All residents with a valid target assessment.
Exclusions	Exclusions: Residents satisfying any of the following conditions: 1. The target assessment is an admission (AA8a = 01) assessment. 2. I2j is missing on the target assessment.
Risk Adjustment	
Data Source	Standardized clinical instrument
Level	Facility (e.g., hospital, nursing home)
Setting	Nursing home/ Skilled Nursing Facility (SNF)
<b>Measure# 0299: Surgical Site Infection Rate</b>	
Steward	Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services
Description	Percentage of surgical site infections occurring within thirty days after the operative procedure if no implant is left in place or with one year if an implant is in place in patients who had an NHSN operative procedure performed during a specified time
Numerator	Number of surgical site infections occurring within thirty days after the operative procedure if no implant is left in place or with one year if an implant is in place in patients who had an NHSN operative procedure performed during a specified time period and the infection appears to be related to the operative procedure. Infections are identified on original admission or upon readmission to the facility of original operative procedure within the relevant time frame (30 days for no implants; within 1 year for implants).  Two types of CDC-defined SSIs are included: (1) A deep incisional SSI must meet the following criteria: • Infection occurs within 30 days after the operative procedure if no implant is left or within one year if implant is in place and the infection appears to be related to the operative procedure and • involves deep soft tissues (e.g., fascial and muscle layers) of the incision and • patient has at least one of the following: a) purulent drainage from the deep incision but not from the organ/space component of the surgical site b) a deep incision spontaneously dehisces or is deliberately opened by a surgeon and is culture-positive or not cultured when the patient has at least one of the following signs or symptoms: fever (>38°C), or localized pain or tenderness. A culture-negative finding does not meet this criterion.

	<p>c) an abscess or other evidence of infection involving the deep incision is found on direct examination, during reoperation, or by histopathologic or radiologic examination</p> <p>d) diagnosis of a deep incisional SSI by a surgeon or attending physician.</p> <p>Note: There are two specific types of deep incisional SSIs:</p> <p>1) Deep Incisional Primary (DIP) - a deep incisional SSI that is identified in a primary incision in a patient that has had an operation with one or more incisions (e.g., C-section incision or chest incision for CABG)</p> <p>2) Deep Incisional Secondary (DIS) - a deep incisional SSI that is identified in the secondary incision in a patient that has had an operation with more than one incision (e.g., donor site [leg] incision for CBGB)</p> <p>(2) An organ/space SSI must meet the following criteria:</p> <ul style="list-style-type: none"> <li>• Infection occurs within 30 days after the operative procedure if no implant is left or within one year if implant is in place and the infection appears to be related to the operative procedure</li> <li>and</li> <li>• infection involves any part of the body, excluding the skin incision, fascia, or muscle layers, that is opened or manipulated during the operative procedure</li> <li>and</li> <li>• patient has at least one of the following: <ul style="list-style-type: none"> <li>a). purulent drainage from a drain that is placed through a stab wound into the organ/space</li> <li>b). organisms isolated from an aseptically obtained culture of fluid or tissue in the organ/space</li> <li>c). an abscess or other evidence of infection involving the organ/space that is found on direct examination, during reoperation, or by histopathologic or radiologic examination</li> <li>d). diagnosis of an organ/space SSI by a surgeon or attending physician.</li> </ul> </li> </ul> <p>Specific sites of an organ/space SSI may be identified<sup>11</sup></p>
Denominator	<p>Number of NHSN operative procedures performed during a specified time period stratified by:</p> <ul style="list-style-type: none"> <li>• Type of NHSN operative procedure</li> <li>and</li> <li>• NNIS SSI risk index:</li> </ul> <p>Every patient having the selected procedure is assigned one (1) risk point for each of the following three factors:</p> <ul style="list-style-type: none"> <li>o Surgical wound classification = clean contaminated or dirty</li> <li>o American Society of Anesthesiologists (ASA) preoperative severity of illness score = 3, 4, or 5</li> <li>o Duration of operation &gt;t</li> </ul> <p>hours, where t varies by type of NHSN operative procedure and is the approximate 75th percentile of the duration of the procedure rounded to the nearest whole number of hours.</p> <p>Note: For operative procedures performed using lapyroscopes and endoscopes the use of a lapyroscope is an additional factor that modifies the risk index.</p>
Exclusions	Exclude Procedures Not Included Under The Definition Of NHSN Operative Procedure And Excludes Superficial SSI.
Risk Adjustment	
Data Source	Paper Medical Record
Level	Facility (e.g., hospital, nursing home)
Setting	Hospital